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KILDARE T OWN

1.0 Introduction

Sheridan Woods Architects + Urban Planners in
collaboration with Eithne Verling Museum Consultant
and Archaeologist were appointed by Kildare County
Council in association with the Heritage Council

to prepare the Kildare Town Historic Landscape
Characterisation.

1.1 Objective of the Kildare Town Historic
Landscape Characterisation

Historic Landscape Characterisation (HLC) seeks

to establish a greater understanding of the historic

evolution of rural and urban landscapes. By

undertaking this process, we are able to assess the

historic significance and sensitivity of the natural and

man made features that define the character of a

place as we know it today.

The main objectives of the Kildare Town HLC are to:

» Identify the principal factors that influenced the
evolution of the town and its hinterland,

» Establish a detailed record of the elements that
contribute to the historic character of the town
and its hinterland, and

* Make recommendations with respect to the
protection and enhancement of the historic
landscape of Kildare Town.

More specifically, the Kildare Town HLC is intended
to inform the preparation of the Kildare Town Local
Area Plan 2011-2017.

1.2 Study Area

In determining the study area for the Kildare Town
HLC the following considerations were taken into
account:

» The vulnerability of historic character areas within
the development boundary of the town,

* The potential impact of future development on the
historic character of areas surrounding the town,
and

* The potential to extend the study area and / or
integrate with other study areas in the future.

Having regard to these factors, the study area was
extended one mile beyond the town boundary.

This boundary was then adjusted to reflect the
nearest townland boundaries, providing for the
future extension of the study area on a townland by
townland basis or integration with other study areas
based on townland units [Map 01].
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1.3 Methodology

The preparation of the Kildare Town HLC primarily
involved the mapping of historic landscape character
types as defined by the Heritage Council’s Policy and
Best Practice Guidance. These historic landscape
character types reflect a combination of features of
the natural and man made environment including
land use, morphology of layout, period of origin,
physical form and relict survival. Many of these
features were mapped in the course of this project
and these maps are included in the body of this
report and as appendices.

The mapping of historic landscape character types
drew on a variety of sources and previous studies
including:

» Historic and contemporary ordnance survey
mapping

* Aerial photography

» The Record of Monuments and Places

* Archaeological surveys and excavations including
the Kildare Urban Archaeological Survey and the
Kildare Industrial Archaeological Heritage Survey

+ Kildare Town Habitat Mapping

* National Inventory of Architectural Heritage
Survey of County Kildare

» History publications including the Kildare Town
Historic Atlas (Bradley, 1987) and Kildare History
& Society (Nolan and McGrath, 2006)

This data was augmented by a field survey
concentrating primarily on the historic town centre
of Kildare. A photographic record of the building
elevations which define the town’s principal streets
and spaces was made and an urban analysis of the
town’s fabric undertaken. Buildings representative of
various building typologies found outside the town
centre have also been recorded as part of this field
survey.

The historic landscape character types identified
were subsequently analysed in terms of their historic
significance, sensitivity and exposure to pressure.
These types were also grouped into broader historic
landscape character areas which were also assessed
in terms of their historic significance, sensitivity and
exposure to pressure.

Having regard to the planning and development
context of the town, recommendations are made with
respect to the development of Kildare Town’s historic
landscape and will inform the preparation of the
Kildare Town Local Area Plan 2011-2017.
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2.0 Historic Evolution

The landscape of Kildare is largely formed of fertile
glacial drifts. The main soil type within the study area
and indeed County Kildare as a whole is a grey-
brown podzolic. This soil type has the widest land
use range being suitable for all manner of Corne and
Cattle’ as noted in the Civil Survey of 1655.

The availability of high quality soil in a large portion
of the county made it a very productive location for
agricultural activity and helps us to understand the
archaeological evidence and the settlement patterns
within the study area.

Evidence of the occupation of the landscape can

be seen in the early emergence of a network of
settlement nodes including the hillforts at Dunmurry
and Dun Ailinne; the ringforts and enclosures in the
Curragh and Fennor; the Fulachta Fiadh complexes
in Cherryville, Loughlion and Greyabbey and most
significantly, the prehistoric, sacred landscape of the
Curragh and the monastic / ecclesiastical landscape
in and around Kildare Town.

In terms of the social and cultural development of the
landscape within the study area it can be seen that
there were a number of significant periods of activity
within the overall time-frame of development.

From an archaeological perspective, the most
notable of these periods include the explosion of
ritual sites on the Curragh in the Late Bronze Age;
the period of monastic development in the 5th to 7th
centuries and the urban and ecclesiastical period of
settlement in the Anglo-Norman dominated 12th and
13th centuries.

With respect to the modern history of Kildare, the
development of the town’s market and military
functions are equally important periods from which
much of the present day settlement derives its
character and historic significance.

The following sections give an overview of important
historic periods, developments and events which
have influenced the development of Kildare Town.

21 St. Brigid and the Christian Foundation
The settlement of Kildare dates back to the 5th
century when St. Brigid founded her church at Druim
Criaig - meaning ridge of clay - beside an ancient
oak believed to have been a pagan shrine to the
Celtic Goddess Brigid, from whom the saint takes her
name.

Subsequently renamed Cell Dara (church of the oak),
a monastery of large proportions was established.

A stone wall delineates the modern complex within
which a church, round tower and high cross survive
today. The site of a ‘fire house’ is also situated within
the enclosure where it is believed a flame lit by St.
Brigid was kept continuously burning until the early
thirteenth century and was rekindled again thereafter.

The inner enclosure of St. Brigid’s monastery would
have occupied an area greater than the present

day site as shown opposite. Approached from as
many as twelve routes (although some of these
routes may not be contemporary with the early
Christian settlement), the elevated location of the
monastery and its buildings must have made a strong
impression on visitors travelling to this important
ecclesiatical centre.

The monastic settlement at Kildare attracted a
significant lay population including artisans, traders
and scholars. Seventh century descriptions of ‘a
vast metropolitan centre’ as well as tenth century
references to a ‘street of the stone steps’ suggest a
‘proto urban’ settlement which would have comprised
an ecclesiastical enclosure surrounded by the
dwellings of both religious and lay communities,
which may also have been enclosed by an outer
ditch or bank.

Conjecture as to the location of both the inner and
outer enclosures have been drawn from cartographic
sources and from the curvilinear patterns of present
day road and boundary alignments [Map 02].

At the Synod of Raith Breassail in 1111, Kildare
became the centre of a large diocese, a tribute to St.
Brigid and her church as well as a reflection upon
the status of the settlement, which had survived
successive Viking raids and fires suffered during
previous centuries. The number of references to the
settlement in the annals of the early historic period
point to it as a large and wealthy ecclesiastical
foundation of great significance
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Fig. 01_Ruins of Grey Abbey, Grey Abbey Road
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Fig. 02_Ruins of Black Abbey, Tully

2.2 The Medieval Borough and Abbeys of
Kildare

Following the Norman invasion of 1169, the
settlement at Kildare, owing to its strategic hilltop
location and access to the rich plains of east central
Ireland, became the centre of Strongbow’s campaign
to conquer Leinster. In developing his military base,
Strongbow constructed a castle, which is likely to
have comprised a motte and bailey located on a site
to the east of Market Square and immediately north
of Dublin Street, as suggested by a mound indicated
on Rocque’s Map of 1757.

A stone castle was built in the thirteenth century
by William Marshall, Earl of Pembroke and Lord

of Leinster, during which time Kildare established
itself as both manor and borough. Marshall resided
in Kildare for a brief period only, after which time
the lordship of Kildare eventually passed to William
De Vesci. The castle was subsequently conquered
by Calvagh O’ Connor and later retaken by the
Normans.

The thirteenth century was a relatively peaceful time
in Kildare, which saw the construction of St. Brigid’'s
Cathedral, attributed to Ralph of Bristol (Bishop of
Kildare 1223-32), as well as the establishment of
three abbeys within close proximity of the town itself.
These abbeys included the Franciscan Grey Abbey
to the south [Fig. 01], the Carmelite White Abbey

to the west and the Black Abbey at Tully [Fig. 02],

a preceptory of the Knights Hospitaller of St. Jude.
These abbeys take their names from the habits worn
in medieval times by the monks associated with the
foundations and are testimony to the peaceful times
during which they were established.

In the early fourteenth century the earldom of Kildare
was created by King Edward Il and awarded to the
FitzGerald family in recognition of their services
during the Bruce Invasion. Although the FitzGerald’s
were to establish their seat of power in Maynooth,
Kildare Town, for the greatest part, remained in their
ownership right up until the early twentieth century.
Kildare Castle, positioned on elevated lands to the
east of St. Brigid’s monastery, comprised four towers
with various out-offices surrounded by a bawn

[Map 03]. To the south of the castle an east west
axis served tenements associated with long narrow
‘burgage’ plots located to the south of Dublin Street
and both sides of Claregate Street.

Having regard to the burgage rents of the early
fourteenth century, it is possible that the town of
Kildare would have occupied a built up area as
large as the eighteenth century town illustrated in
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Rocque’s map of 1757. The alignment of a town
wall authorised in 1515 might have confirmed this
conjecture had the wall survived. Whilst it is likely
that the medieval defences of Kildare Castle and the
churchyard walls of St. Brigid’s Monastery formed
part of this wall, the extrapolation of a possible
alignment from boundaries and road alignments is
purely speculative, particularly when more recent
finds on a site on Bride Street (site of Credit Union
building) are taken into consideration. These finds
included a large linear ditch of possible early historic
period date and the base of an Anglo-Norman tower
in the south-west corner of the site [Map 03].

Outside the medieval town, the edges of plough
strips of Anglo-Norman or possibly earlier origin
might be construed from the gently curving
boundaries still evident on modern maps, although
again, these conjectures have yet to be supported by
archaeological evidence.

2.3 The Market Town

Although once an important Christian centre and a
prosperous medieval town, post medieval Kildare
paints a bleak picture in the context of past glories.
Following the reformation of the sixteenth century,
the monastic houses of Kildare fell into decay. St.
Brigid’s Cathedral now catered for a small protestant
community which formed a fraction of both the
diocese and parish population. Post reformation
bishops were all absentees, as were most of the
other clergy attached to the cathedral. Equally, the
earls of Kildare had removed themselves from the
town, establishing their seat of power in Maynooth.

Having suffered badly during Queen Elizabeth’s
Wars, the town of Kildare was described as being
‘altogether disinhabited’in 1600. The town was later
garrisoned during the Confederate Wars, during
which time the cathedral was totally ruined, reputedly
bombarded by Lord Castlehaven. Paradoxically, a
settlement that had once been an important Christian
centre and strategically positioned medieval borough
now found itself being bypassed by travellers bound
for the Munster plantations, who preferred to pass
through Naas and Kilcullen, both of which were
located within the Pale.

The administrative functions of shire town
subsequently passed from Kildare to Naas but

this in itself was not the sole reason for the town’s
demise. Being removed from a river, the town did
not lend itself to industrial development, particularly
in the context of the eighteenth century expansion of
Irelands’ milling industries.



i | fjm?f?m-g,' e
Fodr T R o
MLP o o it 8 i
P W g |

Pl = R =
Pl i .r':.--." !

Vo P Tl i e B

A_,aﬁ"'-.:.--"« B 5

House

Fig. 04_St. Brigid’s Cathedral, Round Tower and Market

QEMEAAL VIEW OF RILDARE

Fig. 05_Market Square and St. Brigid’s R.C. Church

Rocques Map of 1757 [Fig. 03] gives us some
insight into the extent of eighteenth century Kildare.
The structure of the historic town centre is almost
identical to that of the present day, the Market
Square being its focus with buildings fronting onto all
three sides as well as sections of Dublin Street and
Claregate Street.

During this time, Kildare would have served as a
small service centre. Many houses in the central area
were rebuilt but these were of modest proportion

and construction. On the outskirts of the town, old
cabins occupied what was most likely common land
to the north at Shraud and to the south at St. Brigid’s
Square, where a pound and fair green were situated.

The development of Kildare in the eighteenth century
was relieved somewhat by the introduction of a toll
on the road from Naas to Maryborough, placing the
town on the main route between Dublin and the
south-west. Toward the end of the century Kildare
had established itself as a post town, benefiting from
the passing trade generated by mail coaches and
other traffic.

A notable change in the character of the town was
brought about by the construction of private and
public buildings in the late eighteenth and nineteenth
centuries. Rocques map of 1757 indicates a large
free standing house within the bawn of Kildare
Castle, which later became the residence of Lord
Edward Fitzgerald, leader of the United Irishmen. To
the east and south of the castle, Beechgrove House
and Lislee House, both attractive detached Georgian
dwellings, added to the superior residential character
of Dublin Street. Elsewhere, housing primarily
comprised the modest townhouses on the principal
streets of Kildare and inferior cabins located along its
approach roads, and in particular those to the north
of the town.

Notable public buildings of the eighteenth and
nineteenth century included the restored Kildare
Cathedral, the Market House and Court House, as
well as new church buildings at St. Brigid’s Square
and White Abbey. Various convent and school
buildings were also constructed during this period,
as well as an infirmary and a hospital for ‘unfortunate
and fallen women’known at the Lock Hospital.

24 Great Southern and Western Railway

The Great Southern and Western Railway was

one of the main railway operations in Ireland in the
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. The Dublin
to Cork route opened in 1846-47, passing through
the Curragh and calling at Kildare station, which
was constructed within half a mile north of the town
centre.
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Although having little impact on the economy of
Kildare Town, the railway line strengthened links with
Dublin and subsequently induced a northward shift

in the expansion of the settlement. Most notably, the
fair green, which had previously been located at St.
Brigid’s Square, repositioned itself at a more strategic
location north of the town, between Market Square
and the railway station.

Apart from those buildings and structures directly
associated with railway operations in Kildare Town,
the most notable development to arise from the
opening of the railway line was the construction of
a large hotel at Shraud. Although no longer extant,
this building would have been typical of buildings
constructed in late nineteenth century Kildare,
chracterised by a Victorian style and red brick finish,
a material which by then was being mass produced
and readily available. Whilst the use of brick is most
common in the construction of new houses and
terraces outside the town centre, new commercial
buildings on Market Square also reflected the
availability of new materials.

25 The Curragh

The Curragh has been associated with the settlement
of Kildare town since early Christian times when

the King of Leinster reputedly granted to St. Brigid

as much pasture land as her cloak would cover.
Possibly the oldest and most extensive tract of semi-
grassland in Europe, the Curragh consists of a gently
undulating plain measuring 4,870 acres, within which
a dense concentration of archaeological monuments
are located. To the south east of the Curragh, Dun
Ailinne, seat of the Kings of Leinster is located on
the hilltop of Knockailline. The Hill of Allen, where

it is believed Fionn Mac Cumbhaill and the Fianna
assembled, is located to the north of the plains.

The Curragh has long been the site of military
activity, extending from the eight century battle of the
Cuirreach right up to the present day. Having served
as an encampment during the Confederate and
Jacobite Wars and again during the Irish Rebellion
of 1798, the Curragh subsequently became the

site of Ireland’s largest military training camp in the
early nineteenth century in anticipation of a French
invasion. However, this camp was temporary in
nature and it was in fact on foot of the Crimean

War that the first permanent camp was constructed
in 1855. Laid out on an east west axis, the camp
primarily comprised ten squares defined by timber
huts. These squares were gradually redeveloped
towards the end of the nineteenth century and in the
beginning of the twentieth century [Fig. 06], during
which time many fine buildings were constructed on
the camp.

Prepared by Sheridan Woods Architects + Urban Planners



Fig. 06_The Curragh Camp 1906

The potential of the Curragh for organised horse
racing was realised in the seventeenth century. As
the industry grew over the eighteenth and ninteenth
century stud farms and associated buildings were
established throughout the county and are now a
common feature of the local landscape. In 1759,
the ‘Curragh Coffee House’ was constructed on the
south side of Kildare’s Dublin Street and provided
facilities to visitors to the Curragh. The Turf Club, the
regulatory body for thoroughbred racing in Ireland,
had its headquarters here until 1903.

In 1868 the Lord Lieutenant of Ireland issued by-
laws for the purposes of managing the Curragh
more efficiently, recognising three zones relating

to grazing, race-course and associated bloodstock
activities and the military camp. These by-laws were
followed by the 1870 Curragh of Kildare Act which
specified that only sheep could graze on the Curragh
and established the appointment of a ranger to
oversee the property. This act was not amended or
superceded by any legislation until the 1961 Curragh
of Kildare Act which abolished the post of ranger
and replaced it with direct management from the
Department of Defence.
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2.6 Magee Barracks

In 1900 a Royal Artillery barracks was constructed on
the outskirts of Kildare Town, on the site of the Lock
Hospital. Having been in operation for only twenty
years, the barracks would have brought a period of
prosperity to the town of Kildare, with as many as
800 men being stationed there. The barracks was
handed over to the National Army in 1922 following
the establishment of an Irish Free State.

Magee Artillery Barracks was constructed in the
1930’s and was one of the first military barracks to
be developed by the newly formed Irish Free State.
The barracks, which is accessed off the Dublin Road,
is largely structured on a central avenue. The bulk
of the barrack buildings were located to the east of
this avenue and comprised accommodation blocks,
officers’ mess, administration and training schools
arranged around a parade ground. The barracks
remained in operation up until 1998, when the
complex was closed and its personnel moved to the
Curragh.

Magee Barracks has since been used as a reception
centre for Kosovar refugees, asylum seekers and
more recently as traveller accommodation. Most of
the original barracks buildings are now in a state of
dereliction.

L ANDSCAPE

2.7 The National Stud Farm and Japanesse
Gardens at Tully
The breeding of horses at Tully can be traced back
to the fourteenth century when it is likely that war
horses were bred here for the Knights of Malta. In the
early twentieth century, one of the finest stud farms in
Europe was developed at Tully, when Colonel William
Hall-Walker, having bought lands here, turned his
attention to the owning and breeding of race horses.

During the years 1906 to 1910, Colonel Hall-Walker
commissioned the development of the Japanese
Gardens at Tully which were laid out by a man by
the name of Eida, and his son Minoru, both natives
of Japan. The gardens, planned to symbolise the
life of man, are acclaimed to be the finest Japanese
gardens in Europe and are a major tourist attraction
today.

In 1915, Colonel Hall-Walker presented the stud to
the British Government in the interest of forming a
National Stud. The Irish Government took over the
land and buildings at Tully in 1943, and the Irish
National Stud Company Ltd. formed in 1945.

The National Stud comprises a nucleus of historic
buildings and sites including Black Abbey and St.
John’s well. This complex was once connected to the
town of Kildare by a tree lined avenue demarcated
by attractive wrought iron entrance gates on the
Curragh Road. Today this avenue is severed by the
M7 motorway which bypasses the town along its
southern periphery.

Whilst the National Stud Farm at Tully is the most
renowned stud farm in the country, there are several
smaller stud farms and associated buildings located
outside Kildare Town and surrounding the Curragh,
all of which are testimony to the equestrian heritage
of the county.

2.8 Kildare Town Today

Over the 20th century the town of Kildare has
experienced limited expansion in comparison with
other settlements in the county. The maijority of

this development has been residential in nature,
occurring to the north and east of the historic town
centre and comprising private and local authority
housing estates. These estates reflect the emerging
role of Kildare Town as a dormitory settlement arising
from improved rail and road links to Dublin City.
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Although the resurgence of Kildare’s economy is
primarily attributed to its military and equestrian
associations, new industries to emerge in the mid
twentieth century included a wall paper factory to the
west of the town and a chilling factory, initially located
at Bride Street and later on the Dublin Road, to the
east of the town.

In the 1980’s Kildare saw both the closure of

the wallpaper factory and the arrival of Modus
Media, also located on the Monasterevin Road.
Another boost to the economy of the town came

in the beginning of the twenty first century with the
construction of the Kildare Village Outlet Centre,
taking full advantage of the town’s location on the
M7 motorway. Within the town centre itself, the most
significant change to occur in recent time was the
redevelopment of the southern side of Claregate
Street, extending from Bangup Lane almost as far as
Cleamore Road, and comprising a single mixed use
building.

Notwithstanding the expansion of the town itself,

the construction of the M7 motorway is the most
significant change to have occurred in the landscape
surrounding Kildare Town since the turn of the
century. Skirting its southern periphery, the bypass
and associated junction is now the principal point of
access to Kildare.



3.0 Survey & Analysis

3.1 Topography and Landscape

The town of Kildare and its surrounding hinterland
derives much of its character from subtle variations

in topography which provide for panoramic views
across the study area and beyond. The landscape
surrounding the town is equally varied and comprises
the Curragh plains to the east, pastoral landscapes to
the north, south and west and bogland further south
again.

Kildare town is situated on a ridge approximately 10
to 15 metres higher than surrounding lowlands. As
such, the settlement of Kildare and its associated
landmarks have historically been a prominent feature
in the landscape. These landmarks are primarily
enjoyed from the principal approach roads to the
town, and in particular from the elevated approach
roads to the north [Map 06]. In the early stages of
development, the settlement would have equally
enjoyed panoramic outward views towards other
landmarks such as the hillfort of Din Ailinne and the
Wicklow mountains.

1837

Up until the twentieth century, the settlement of
Kildare town was largely concentrated within a 400m
radius of Market Square. During this time the town
remained relatively compact, maintaining much of
its historic street and road structure in the course of
its evolution. With the exception of local authority
housing estates constructed in the early to mid
twentieth century, private housing estates developed
during the late twentieth and early twenty first
century represent the most intensive period of urban
expansion in the history of the town [Fig. 07].

Outside the town of Kildare the topography is
characterised by a group of small hills to the north
comprising Redhills, Dunmurry Hill, Carrickanearla
and Grange Hill, the Curragh plains to the east and
the genlty undulating farmland to the west, north west
and south.

With the exception of commons such as the Curragh,
the rural landscape surrounding Kildare is primarily
defined by enclosed medium to large sized fields of

post medieval origin. These lands were farmed by
tenants who developed small farmsteads comprising
a modest dwelling and associated farm buildings.
Many of these holdings now comprise stud farms, the
most notable being the National Stud at Tully.

Distinctive field patterns can be found in the layout
of planned ladder farms at Crossmorris and in the
later subdivision of lands at Beech Park by the Land
Commission. Modest labourer’s cottages constructed
in the early twentieth century are also characteristic
of the area, frequently occurring in pairs or clusters
on roadsides and at cross roads. However, in recent
decades, urban generated one-off housing has
become the most common form of development in
the landscape, particularly to the south of the town.

An Chomhairke Didhneachia
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Two significant changes to have occurred in the
landscape surrounding Kildare town reflect the
development of national transport networks. The
first of these relates to the construction of the Great
Southern and Western Railway line in the nineteenth
century which forms a corridor through the landscape
to the north of the town centre. The second of these
networks relates to the development of the M7
motorway and the construction of the Kildare bypass
in particular. The bypass passes to the south of the
town, forming a new edge to the settlement.
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Fig. 07_Historic Evolution of Kildare Town
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3.2 Archaeology

Kildare Town is an important historic site because of
its early monastic settlement and its Anglo-Norman
infrastructure. It is an excellent example of the
progression of a settlement from perhaps a pre-
historic habitation, into the 5th century and on up
to the 13th century. ‘This transition from monastic
town to a chartered incorporated town is significant
because Kildare is one of the few sites which
possesses undisputed evidence for this process’
(Urban Arch. Survey).

The principal sites of archaeological interest within
the study area are described in the following sections
and illustrated in Map 07.

Early Monastic Enclosure

The street pattern of Kildare preserves a number of
radial features which are almost certainly the relict
remains of pre-Norman enclosures.

Inner Enclosure

The present cathedral and round tower are located
within a sub-rectangular churchyard which may
have formed the innermost enclosure of St. Brigid’s
foundation. The bulge in Station Road however

is most likely to preserve an ancient boundary.

The continuation of this curve on the north side of
the cathedral can be seen as a cropmark in aerial
photography of the site. Continuing the line of this
curve it would have crossed Church Lane at the
approximate location of Fire Castle. The south side
of the enclosure would have been formed by Clare
Street.

Conjecture as to the location of both the inner and
outer enclosures have been drawn from cartographic
sources and from the curvilinear patterns of
present day road and boundary alignments. An
archaeological excavation took place in 2007 in
the vicinity of Clare Street and Bangup Lane as
part of an extention to a 19th century building. The
excavation revealed a double ditch c. 5 metres in
width. There were no finds apart from animal bone
and no other datable material. This site however
ties in with a conjectural inner boundary for the
ecclesiastical enclosure as identified by Leo Swan.

Outer Enclosure

The radial course of Priest’'s Lane, Academy

Street, St. Brigid’s Square and Convent Road

was almost certainly influenced by the outline of
this enclosure and it is likely that parts of it were
incorporated into the defences of the Anglo-Norman
town as at Kells, Co. Meath. To the north-west

and west the ditch probably lay somewhat within
Priest’'s Lane and Academy Street (Roque’s Black
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Ditch or Cleamore Street). In 2007 an excavation
conducted on Cleamore Road in advance of a
mixed-use development being constructed revealed
a substantial double ditch with the larger of the two
ditches measuring 4m in width and 2.5m in depth.
The southern boundary of the outer enclosure, which
would have been located north of St. Brigid's Square
and Convent Road may be indicated by the position
of the long property boundary running east from
Bride Street. The eastern boundary of the enclosure
is not immediatley evident but it may be the same as
that of the medieval defences.

Kildare Castle

The castle originally consisted of a polygonal
structure with four towers and a motte. Enclosing
an area of less than half a hectare, all that remains
today are three sides of the curtain wall, the
gatehouse and two courses of two of the towers.

The Gatehouse

Access to the castle was through a gatehouse on the
eastern wall [Fig. 08]. This is a rectangular structure
of four floors which has up until recently been in
residential use and as a result undergone several
modifications. The masonry consists of uncoursed
rubble limestone. There is an external batter on

the north, east and south walls. The internal floor
level is 3m above the external ground level and as
such access must have been by means of a timber
gangway leading to the rounded entrance on the east
wall. Below the ground floor is a basement. The stair
to the first floor was lit by a round-arched window
and a smaller splayed window now blocked. Part of
the north wall has been broken out in order to link
the gatehouse with a modern extension on the north.
The entrance to the first floor is lit by a parallel-sided
slit window with internal splay and flat rear arch.

This floor consists of a rectangular chamber lit by
windows in the east and west walls and a garderobe
in the south-west angle, which is now blocked off.
The south wall has a pointed recess, a modern
fireplace in the centre of the wall and an L shaped
garderobe in the south-west angle. The entrance to
the stair leading to the second floor is in the north
wall. The north wall of the chamber contains a long
narrow chamber which runs the length of the wall.
The rectangular chamber has a twin-light round-
headed window with limestone jambs and missing its
centre mullion, in the east wall. Access to the parapet
is from a stair in the south wall of the second floor,

lit by a twin-light rectangular window, now blocked.
The presence of a narrow chamber now blocked off,
in the south west angle is evidenced by an external
window. The roof and parapet are of modern date.

L ANDSCAPE
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Fig. 08_Kildare Castle Gatehouse

South-West Tower

Sherrard’s map of Kildare in 1758 shows a
rectangular structure labeled ‘old tower’ on the west
side of the curtain wall but all trace above ground is
now missing.

North-West Tower

The remains of this structure are incorporated into
the rear of Graham’s bakery on the corner of Market
Square and Station Rd. It appears to have been
retangular and was possibly open-backed. The
visible wall is 1.6m thick and the tower has maximum
dimensions of 9.8m.x 4m.

The North-East Tower

This tower consists of the remains of an open-backed
rectangular structure with a maximum length of 8.8m;
its width cannot be calculated. Internal ground level
is some 6m above the exterior at this point.

Curtain Wall

The battered wall built of uncoursed limestone
survives on the north-west, north-east and parts of
the south-east and south-west sides. Externally its
height ranges between 5 and 6m but internally it is
1.5m high on average. The exterior of the western
wall is inaccessible because it forms the back wall of
several structures. The thickness of the wall where it
can be measured at ground level is 1.6m.

Town Defences

There are no surviving traces of town defences

and both their exact course and the area enclosed
remains problematic. The earliest documentary
evidence occurs in Henry VIII's charter of 1515 which
authorized the burgesses to enclose the town with
stone walls and fosses and granted them murage to
pay for this. This document cannot be taken as proof
that walls were erected at that date however, and the
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first clear references to town defences do not occur
until the late 17th century.

Clare Gate

First mentioned in 1674, it evidently stood near the
west end of Claregare Street. Its precise location is
now unknown but Roque’s map shows an indentation
of the street line which would suggest that this was
the location of the gatehouse.

Fire Castle

This building stood to the west of the cathedral on
the south side of Church Lane. It is first referred to as
‘fire castle’ in 1674 and two walls of it are shown on
Roque’s map of Kildare in 1757 where they project
into Church Lane. This may be the castle belonging
to the convent of St. Brigid de Fyrehouse which is
referred to in the Dissolution documents of 1540 as
‘a small castle or fortillage’ and described as lying
within the precincts of the nunnery.

Ellis Castle

First mentioned with the other gates in 1674 it
appears to have been located on Station Road.

Its position is now unknown but in common with
gatehouses elsewhere, it was probably located at the
crest of the ridge before Station Road drops towards
the north.

White Gate

Also mentioned in 1674 for the first time, this was
located at the eastern end of the town in Dublin
Street but the precise position is unknown.

Tower at Bride Street

An interesting anomaly in the Anglo-Norman fabric
is presented in the results of a 1999 excavation on
Bride Street where works to the Credit Union site
revealed a large linear ditch of possible Early Historic
Period date and the base of an Anglo-Norman tower
recorded in the south-west corner of the site. This
site does not coincide with the conjectural outline of
the town defences as proposed in the Historic Town
Atlas or the Urban Archaeology Survey and may
suggest that the alignment of the town wall was in
fact much closer to Claregate Street than previously
thought.

St. Brigid’s Cathedral and Round Tower

St. Brigid’s Cathedral

The cathedral is the successor of the pre-Norman
church of Kildare. Gwynn and Hadcock suggest that
Kildare remained strongly monastic until the end

of the 12th century. The first English Bishop Ralph
of Bristol was appointed in 1223 and he rebuilt the
ruinous cathedral.



The oldest parts of the cathedral extant today are
thought to date back to Ralph of Bristols tenure as
bishop — these are the nave, the south transept

and some other wall fragments. From this period
until the nineteenth century the cathedral declined
and returned a number of times especially in 1598
when the roof was pulled down during the altercation
between O’Neill’'s and Bingham'’s forces. The north
transept, much of the chancel, the west windows of
the nave and most of the central towers’ walls were
entirely rebuilt in 1896. This reconstruction revealed
a number of archaeological finds including two
fragments of Early Historic Period cross-slabs, two
burials found in the wall of the south transept and
some floor tiles.

Round Tower

Situated north-west of the medieval cathedral, the
masonry of this tower is of two types; the base

and lower courses are of evenly coursed granite
while above this the masonry consists of roughly
coursed limestone [Fig.09]. Barrow noted a further
break in the stonework at the sill of the third storey
window. The tower is 32.6m high and 5.35m wide
above the base. It has seven floors all of which are
supported on corbels except for the third floor which
is slightly off-set and has no corbels. The door of red
sandstone is the most striking feature of the tower.

It faces south-east and is set 4.67m above external
ground level. It is a Romanesque door of four orders
with a tangent gable above, and has in effect a
double porch. The outer order (first) is modern; the
second order has chevron decoration on the outer
face of the moulding with low mouldings and a
chevron on the soffit. The jambs are decorated with
square foliated capitals and the soffit has chevron
patterns forming lozenges which enclose rosettes.
There are narrow pointed splayed windows in the
second, third, fourth and fifth floors while the top
floor has five windows. These are not as high as they
were originally because the base of each has been
blocked. The battlements were added in the 18th
century. Old sketches show the gable of a building
north of the cathedral but the only remains in this
position today consist of a small rectangular hollow.

Cell - Fitzgerald Mortuary Chapel

A small barrel-vaulted underground room orientated
north-south lies immediately east of the cathedral.
The presence of a flat-lintelled window, with internal
spay, in the south wall shows that it was originally
overground. It is now entered from the west through
a rectangular opening reached by steps from modern
ground level. It measures 4.35m by 3.1m.

Fig. 09_Round Tower, Kildare

Stone-Roofed Chamber

At the east end of the cathedral and north of the ‘cell’
is a small stone roofed chamber measuring 1.4m

by 1.5m. The roof of this structure is 0.7m above
present ground level. It is probably part of a burial
vault.

Leigh Mortuary Chapel

North-east of the cathedral are the footings of two
walls which may have been the mortuary chapel for
the Leigh family.

Architectural Fragments

There are a number of architectural fragments lying
within the monastic grounds including an alter stone,
a window spandrel, a window head and a piscine.

Monuments included in the cathedral, the chapter
house and on the monastic site

A pre-1200 damaged, undecorated ringed High
Cross made of granite; probable cross base - pre-
1200; 10th century cross-slab; 11th-12th century
cross-slab; 2 no. pre-1200 cross-slabs; effigy of a
bishop — traditionally identified as John of Taunton,
Bishop of Kildare who died in 1258; 14th century
effigy of a bishop carved in high relief; 14th century
cross slab; limestone table tomb of Walter Wellesley,
bishop of Kildare who died in 1539; limestone slab
tomb of Richard Fitzgerald of Lackgh who died in
1575; 5 no. 16th century tombs; 16th century cross-
slab; 16th century Pardon Stone; Dragon Panel 16th
century; heraldic plaque 16th century; collapsed
mortuary chapel 17th century; 6 no. 17th century
grave slabs; 17th century cross shaft; 17th century
cross plaque.

Abbeys of Kildare

The abbeys included in the study area are the Black
Abbey established at Tully in 1212 - a preceptory of
the Knights Hospitaller of St. John, the Franciscan
Grey Abbey established in 1254 to the south, and
the Carmelite White Abbey built circa 1290 to the

west. At the time of their foundation Kildare was a
thriving settlement with a re-invigorated monastery at
its centre. Undoubtedly, the combination of religious
and economic interests must have influenced the
decisions of the orders to settle here.

Black Abbey

The first order to arrive were the Knights of St. John
later to become known as the Knights of Malta. They
were an order of military monks established to help
pilgrims travelling to and from the Holy Land. They
had a presence in Tully until the dissolution of the
monasteries in 1539. The ruins of their church or
perceptory and graveyard now stand in the western
side of the grounds of the National Stud. To the north
east of the site is an associated holy well marked on
the O.S. maps as St. John’s Well. To the south-east
of the site is another holy well marked on the same
map as St. Brigid’s Well. Also, to the south west, in
the townland of Brallistown Little is a third holy well
marked on the Record of Monuments and Places.

Grey Abbey

The Franciscans arrived mid-century, possibly
encouraged by Maurice FitzGerald or William

de Vesci (Corrigan:2009). The friary known as

Grey Abbey has an interesting history which

saw it surrrender to Henry VIII in 1539 only to be
burnt in 1540. It is recorded that the church was
repaired in 1621 and was in use for some time

after this. However it was never restored and now
lies in a ruinous and overgrown condition. Gywn

and Hadcock (1970) describe the site as having
comprised of a church, a belfry, a dormitory, a hall
and three chambers, a kitchen and a cemetery when
it surrendered in 1539. South west of the friary is a
pond, close to a stream, named as Friar’'s Well on the
Third Edition O.S. Map.

The history of Grey Abbey goes back further than
the establishment of the friary. In 2005 an excavation
was carried out on the site which showed it to be a
multi-period site. The earliest evidence of settlement
came from Bronze Age contexts which revealed a
roasting pit from c. 1142 — 1310 BC. Evidence of

an Iron Age kiln was found dating from 196 - 4BC.
An investigation of what John Bradley refers to

as the ‘claustal remains’ a rectangular enclosure
close to the church, provided evidence of medieval
occupation. Excavation of 3 no. parallel cuttings
resulted in finds of animal bones, 12th/13th century
tiles identical to those found at St. Brigid’s Cathedral
and 12th/13th century pottery. This particular site is
referred to locally as a leper colony and is thought
by the excavating archaeologist (Emer Dennehy

for Margaret Gowan & Associates) to have possibly
been a hospital.
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White Abbey

The establishment of the Carmelite Priory is also
credited to William de Vesci, Lord of Kildare. It was
situated west of the cathedral. When it surrendered
in 1539 it consisted of a church, a belfry, a dormitory,
a hall and two chambers (Gwyn and Hadcock:1970).
A drawing exists from the end of the 18th century,
done by a man the name of Austin Cooper, which
shows a roofless, single-aisled church. Rocque, in
his map of 1757 shows the priory as standing south
of the modern day Carmelite church. The Carmelites,
like the Franciscans returned to the area and by the
mid 1860’s they had three priests and a school. The
foundation stone for the new church was laid in 1885.

The Curragh

There are over 179 archaeological sites including 5
linear earthworks on the Curragh - of which 135 are
barrows or burial monuments (Clancy:2006). The
high concentration of sites indicates the significant
role the Curragh played in the construction of social
identity and ritual activity in this part of Leinster
(Clancy:2008). The fact that so many of the sites are
burial / ritual sites indicates that this unique part of
Kildare was regarded by many pre-historic societies
as a sacred landscape.

The earliest confirmed archaeological activity on the
Curragh is Neolithic (New Stone Age) with material
recorded from a number of sites including a tumulus
and Dun Ailinne to the south east - outside the
study area. There is evidence for Early Bronze Age
cemeteries although they represent a continuance
of the low level of economic status seen earlier in
the Neolithic Period. In the Middle Bronze Age the
building of banked ring-ditchestakes place and there
are a number of metal and ceramic finds from this
period.

It is during the Late Bronze Age when there is

a dramatic increase in the number of sites with
representation in this period of the full typology of
barrows — ring-barrows, pond-barrows, embanked
ring-ditches and multi-banked ring-barrows. The
concentration of barrows in the Curragh makes it
one of the highest concentrations of this monument
type in the country and points to its importance as
a ritual landscape. Further evidence of this can

be found in the Iron Age when this area of Kildare
becomes framed by the hillfort at Dunmurry, futher
barrow clusters in the Curragh and Dan Ailinne to
the south-east. The large internally ditched henge-
type monument found at Dan Ailinne is similar to the
type of ‘royal’ monument found at Tara and Emain
Macha (Navan Fort) in Armagh and possibly also at
Rathcroghan, Co. Roscommon.
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An excavation that took place in Maddenstown,
adjacent to the Curragh, during the construction of a
7 furlong all-weather gallop revealed a complex of 28
pit or cut features and spreads of burnt bone dating
to the Middle/Late Bronze Age. This site is thought
to be a flat cemetery and therefore had no above
ground features. In 2001 and 2002 a number of
other excavations took place during the construction
of the Kildare bypass managed by the National
Roads Authority. These excavations, again in close
proximity to the Curragh (in the Curragh and Tully
East townlands respectively), revealed Bronze Age
activity and associated finds.

Remaining Rural Landscape

Outside of the monastic landscape of Kildare Town
and the ritual landscape of the Curragh and the
additional sites mentioned in both of these contexts,
the remaining archaeology within the study area

is not remarkable except for the fact that there is

a higher than normal occurance of sites and these
sites follow the general pattern of site representation
as set down by two central landscape types
described above. There are approximately 25 sites
remaining, all recorded in the RMP, and spanning
the full chronology of Irish archaeology beginning
with a Neolithic retouched flint found in 2007 during
monitoring for a waste treatment plant in Bishopsland
townland. There are what are thought to be Bronze
Age burials in a series of three barrows in Kingsbog
Common and in earthworks in Tully East and on
the border of Redhills and Watergrange and other
burials, possibly from the same prehistoric period

in the townlands of Loughlion (excavated sites),
Knockshough Glebe, Collaghknock Glebe and
Kilnagornan. Also, possibly from this period are

the fulachta fiadh (ancient cooking sites) found in
Grey Abbey and Maddenstown. The Iron Age, as
previously discussed is represented in Dunmurry
Hill and at Grey Abbey and the early historic period
settlement sites are evidenced in the ringforts at Grey
Abbey, Mooretown and Dunmurry East. Apart from
the ecclesiastical sites already discussed there is a
church, graveyard and burial ground at Dunmurry
East. There are a number of other sites described
in the RMP as enclosures or mounds, seen in
Loughandys, Crossmorris and Dunmurry East —
whose original purpose remains unclassified as yet.

Page 14

HI1STORIC

3.3 Industrial Archaeology

A survey of the industrial archaeology of county
Kildare was undertaken in 2007. The survey largely
concerns itself with, although is not confined to

the period 1750 - 1930 and draws primarily on
cartographic sources such as ordnance survey

mapping.

The survey identifies 55 no. sites of industrial
archaeological heritage within the Kildare HLC
study area [Map 08]. For the greatest part these
sites comprise quarries for the extraction of sand
and gravel. However, sites of significance include
the Great Southern and Western Railway line and
associated bridges, Kildare railway station and
associated goods sheds and engine houses etc., the
military camp at the Curragh, Magee Barracks and
various utilities and manufacturing sites within and
around Kildare Town.

Kildare railway station, various buildings and
structures at the Curragh Camp and the market
building and early 20th century factories located
within Kildare Town are described in Section 3.4
Architectural Heritage. Other sites of interest include
the water tower and water hydrants located in Kildare
Town and the road bridges which traverse the railway
line. A description of these sites is given here.

Kildare Water Tower

This freestanding cast-concrete water tower [Fig.

10] was constructed in the latter half of the twentieth
within the bawn of Kildare Castle. The tower has a
polygonal plan comprising eight reinforced concrete
piers with supporting ring supporting a cast-concrete
panelled drum/basin supported on corbels with
moulded plinth and coping.

This water tower reflects the challenges which have
historically faced Kildare Town in terms of providing
a water supply. It is of technical and engineering
interest and adds to the streetscape of Nugent
Street.
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ig. 10_Water Tower, Kildare Town
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Water Hydrant, Chapel Hill

This water hydrant [Fig. 11] at Church Lane is one
of 4 no. water hydrants which survive in Kildare
Town today. Dating from the late ninteenth century,
this hydrant comprises a fluted shaft with lion mask
spout, moulded necking with handle and ball shaped
finial, and a fluted ogee dome on top with an acorn
finial.

Water hydrants such as this one are of historical and
technical interest, reflecting a period when the mains
water supply to the town was provided communally.
The water hydrants found in Kildare survive in their
original location and add to the streetscape of the
town.

Post Box, Kildare Railway Station

This wall-mounted cast-iron post box [Fig. 12] dating
from the late ninteenth century is located at Kildare
Railway Station and is testimony to the development
of communication networks in Ireland at this time.
The post box incorporates the raised “VR” royal
cipher and crown motif.

This cast-iron post box, which is still in use and in
very good condition is of artistic merit as well as
testifying to a time when Ireland once formed part of
the British Empire.
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Fig. 12_Post Box, Kildare Town
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Road Bridge, Southgreen Road

This single-arch cut-stone bridge [Fig. 13] is one
of 3 no. road bridges spanning the railway line to
the north of Kildare Town. Constructed in the late
ninteenth century, this bridge comprises broken
coursed squared rubble stone walls with rusticated
stone voussoirs, a cut-stone stringcourse, and cut-
stone coping to the parapet wall.

The construction of the eliptical arch that has
retained its original shape is of technical and
engineering merit. The bridge exhibits good quality
stone masonry and fine, crisp joints. The bridge

is of historical and social significance testifying to
the development of the railway network in the late
nineteenth century.

Fig. 13_Road Bridge, Southgren Road

Cast-Iron Lamp Standards, Market Square

This group of 4 no. cast-iron lamp standards [Fig. 14]
on Market Square were erected in the mid twentieth
century and comprise fluted shafts on pedestals

with moulded necking surmounted by a lamp with a
decorative iron capping.

These lamp standards are of artistic merit having
been designed as aesthetic as well as functional
pieces of street furniture. These lamps also testify to
the provision of public utilities in the town during the
twentieth century.

Fig. 14_Cast-Iron Lamp Standard, Market Square
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3.4 Architectural Heritage

Kildare Town has a rich and diverse architectural
heritage reflecting various periods of development
associated with the settlement [Map 09A & B]. Whilst
the historic town core primarily comprises modest
eighteenth and ninteenth century buildings typical of
Irish market towns, Kildare Town is most memorable
for its collection of ecclesiastical structures, and in
particular its skyline of church spires and towers.
The town provides good examples of defining eras

in Irish architecture which is reflected in the design,
use of materials and craftsmanship of individual
buildings. A representative sample to various building
typologies and architectural styles is described in the
following sections.

Public and Civic Buildings

A range of public and civic buildings are located
throughout the town of Kildare. These buildings
include several ecclesiastical structures, the market
and court house, various school buildings, the railway
station, a former infirmary and an artillery barracks.
Some of these building typologies also occur at the
Curragh military barracks and where relevant are
included in the descriptions below.

Ecclesiastical Buildings

Ecclesiastical buildings have historically formed

an integral part of Kildare’s evolving urban fabric.
Many of these buildings have disappeared, been
transformed or been completely replaced, resulting in
a diversity of church architecture and styles.

St. Brigid’s Cathedral

St. Brigid’s Cathedral [Fig. 15] is a late nineteenth
century church incorporating the fabric of an earlier
thirteenth century church and constructed on the
site of St. Brigid’s monastery. Built in the style of the
gothic revival, the cathedral has a cruciform plan
comprising a double height nave, transepts and
chancel and a three stage tower at their crossing.
The cathedral is constructed of rubble stone with
cut stone dressings demonstrating the high quality
of stone masonry once practiced in the area.

The interior of the cathedral contains a variety of
attractive features including decorative floor tiles,
stained glass windows and an ornate reredos to the
chancel.

A rubble stone wall encompasses the church yard
within which a twelfth century round tower and the
site of a fire house are located. A pair of cut stone
piers with cast iron gates demarcates the entrance to
the church grounds from Market Square, from which
impressive views of the church can be observed.
Equally impressive views of the cathedral complex

Page 16

- M
L L i)
Y = P | e g

Fig. 15_St. Brigid’s Cathedral

can also be observed from the town park, to the north
of the site.

St. Mary’s Carmelite Church

St. Mary’s Carmelite Catholic Church [Fig. 16] was
constructed between 1884 and 1889 to the designs
of William Hague. The church is located to the west
of the town centre, on the site of the no longer extant
White Abbey. Constructed in the style of the gothic
revival, this church has a cruciform plan with double
height nave, transepts and chancel and a four stage
tower with spire flanking its principal elevation. This
tower signals the church on the Kildare skyline from
some distance, and in particular from the north
western approach roads to the town.

The church is constructed of squared limestone walls
with intricate cut granite dressings throughout. The
principal elevation of the church is characterised

by a gable wall comprising a rose window over

an entrance porch, and the tower to its side. The
interior of the church includes an exposed timer roof
structure and carved altar furniture designed in the
gothic style.

St. Mary’s Carmelite Church fronts onto a small
forecourt which is accessed from the road. A priory
adjoins the church and also faces the road. The
setting of the church adds to its attractive character
and includes mature trees and a roughcast boundary
wall with iron railings.

Fig. 16_St. Mary’s Carmelite Church
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St. Brigid’s Catholic Church, Kildare

This church [Fig. 17] was constructed in 1833, soon
after the Catholic Emancipation, and marks an
important period of social change in Ireland. The
church is unusual insofar as it has been constructed
in a muted classical style when a form of gothic
revival would have been the preferred choice of the
Roman Catholic Church. The church originally had a
T-shaped plan comprising double height transepts.
The church was renovated in 1851 when a five stage
square tower with entrance door and domed roof was
added to the west elevation. The plan of the church
was significantly modified in the 1970’s following

the Second Vatican Council to include a flat roofed
transept to the south constructed in the modern style.
Both the original church and later extensions are
rendered, the former comprising cut stone quoins
and string courses with limestone ashlar to the upper
stages of the tower. The interior of the church was
also significantly altered in the 1970’s although some
important features of the original church including
decorative plaster work and stained glass panels
survive.

St. Brigid’s Catholic Church is located to the

south of the town centre on a prominent corner

site fronting onto St. Brigid’s Square and Convent
Road. The church tower signals the church on the
Kildare skyline and is particularly prominent when
approaching the town from the south. The church
site is defined by a roughcast boundary wall with iron
railings.

Fig. 17_St. Brigid's Catholic Church

St. Brigid’s Catholic Church, Curragh Camp
Providing for the religious requirements of service
men stationed at the Curragh Camp, this church [Fig.
18] was constructed in 1958 on the site of an earlier
nineteenth century church. The design is simple in
form comprising a double height barn like structure
with single storey polygonal chapels on its north and
south elevations and a double height polygonal apse
on its eastern gable. A free standing six stage tower
with belfry over is located to the south east of the
church.
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The architecture of this church is dominated
externally by the use of red brick Flemish bond wall
construction with recessed entrance porch to its front
elevation and limited use of openings. Internally, the
church is lit by clerestory windows on its southern
and northern elevations. The iron structure of the
building is exposed internally, standing independent
of the external walls. Tongue and groove panelling
and timber pews provide some relief to the austere
aesthetic of the structure.

This church is arguably the centrepiece of the
Curragh Camp complex and is a good example of
the innovative use of twentieth century construction
technologies. The bell tower associated with the
church is an important feature of the Curragh
landscape as seen from the towns of Kildare and
Newbridge.

Fig. 18_St. Brigid’s Catholic Church, Curragh Camp

Civic Buildings

Kildare Courthouse

Kildare courthouse [Fig. 19] was constructed in 1829
in the classical style to the design of John Hargrave.
Positioned to the east of Market Square and fronting
onto Dublin Street, the courthouse comprises a
three bay, two-storey structure having a rectangular
plan with a single storey flat roofed porch on its front
elevation. The austere fagade of the courthouse
derives its character from its rough cast walls,
symmetrical elevation and reserved decoration.

The courthouse is stepped back from the street
forming a forecourt that is defined on its eastern and
western sides by a rubble stone wall. Two cut stone
piers form an entrance gate to this forecourt and are
likely to have been flanked by walls on either side,
demarcating the curtilage of the courthouse. Although
no longer in use, this building is an important
landmark on the streetscape, representing one of the
earliest civic buildings in the locality.



Fig. 19_Kildare Courth

The Market House

Kildare Market House [Fig. 20] is the focal point of
Market Square, being centrally positioned within

the space and originally comprising a classically
composed symmetrical block with an open round
headed arcade at ground level and meeting /
governor’s room over. A louvered timber cupola

with pyramidal roof and weather vane is centrally
positioned on the ridge of the roof and is reflective of
the building’s agricultural associations.
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Constructed in 1817, the Market House is likely to
have replaced or possibly incorporated an earlier
structure as indicated in Rocque’s 1757 map of
Kildare Town. Originally comprising lime rendered
walls to the ground floor with squared rubble stone
front and back walls and yellow brick gable walls to
the first floor, cut stone arches and string courses,
the fabric of the Market House was significantly
altered circa 2000 when poorly executed renovation
works were carried out.

Kildare Market House is an important landmark within
the town, reflecting its historic role as an agricultural
service centre. Attractive views of this structure
include those from Dublin and Claregate Street as
well as Station Road. Today, the Market House is
also an important orientation point for visitors to the
town.

Fig. 20_Kildare Market House

Kildare Railway Station

Kildare Railway Station [Fig. 21] was opened in

1846 and is typical of railway stations constructed

in the county. Designed by Sir John MacNeill in the
Tudor Revival style, the station is characterised by
its stepped roof line, steeply pitched roofs, gabled
dormers and slender chimney stacks. Set back from
the road on its own grounds, the setting of the station
is less attractive than the building itself, comprising a
large area of surface car parking.

The station is constructed of rendered masonry walls
(south elevation) and red brick Flemish bond walls
(north elevation) with cut granite quoins, window and
door surrounds and hood mouldings. An attractive
glazed timber screen wall to the ticket office survives
internally.

Removed some distance from the town centre,
Kildare Railway Station is important as an entrance
and departure point to and from the town. The
station reflects significant investment in transport
communications during the nineteenth century and
the commercialisation and industrialisation of major

urban centres that formed part of the railway network.

Fig. 21_Kildare Railway Station

Schools

Like the ecclesiastical buildings discussed earlier,
school buildings have historically been located
throughout Kildare Town. Some of these buildings
have disappeared while others have been extended
to meet demand. Today, a diversity of school
architecture exists within the town which reflect
prevalent styles during the late nineteenth and
twentieth century.

Kildare Convent National School

This school [Fig. 22] was commissioned by the
Catholic Church and fronts onto the grounds of the
Presentation Convent, to the south of the town.
Constructed in 1902, the school comprises a six-bay
double height structure with a U-shaped plan and
cast iron veranda spanning projecting gable ends.

Although no longer in use as a school, this building
retains most of its original form and fabric which
comprises rendered walls, timber sash windows,
slate roof, cast iron rainwater goods and veranda.

Fronting onto a forecourt south of the Presentation
Convent and gabling onto Convent Road, this
building is an integral component of the convent
complex as well as the streetscape.

Fig. 22_Kildare Convent National School

Scoil Néisitinta Naomh Brid

This school [Fig. 23] building was constructed in
1937 and reflects the demand for education in
Kildare Town in the early to mid twentieth century.
Located immediately east of Kildare Convent
National School, this building is aligned with Convent
Road and comprises an unusually long six-bay
double height elevation with timber sash windows. A
rendered wall with iron railings demarcates a shallow
strip between the school and Convent Road.

The restrained building form, elevations and detailing
distinguishes this school form its predecessor and is
typical of school architecture at this time.
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Fig. 23_Scoil Naisiunta Naomh Brid

De La Salle Brothers’ School

This primary school [Fig. 24] provided alternative
accommodation to an earlier school building located
on St. Brigid’s Square and is the oldest surviving
school building in the town. Constructed in 1884,
the original school building comprises a detached
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five-bay, two storey building set some distance back
from Bride Street. Its front elevation faces south and
comprises a single-bay two storey breakfront with
quoins and decorative hood over paired windows.

The fabric of this building has been modified in recent
years and includes replacement uPVC windows and
rainwater goods. A tarmacadam yard surrounds the
school and further detracts from the character of

the building. An attractive gateway comprising cut-
stone piers and cast iron gates provide access to the
site from Bride Street. Rubble stone walls and iron
railings define the eastern boundary of the site.

Several new buildings were constructed to the rear
of the original school building in the late twentieth
century. These buildings include classrooms, a sports
hall and staff offices. Access to these buildings is
also provided from Academy Street.

Fig. 24_Kildare Convent National School

Commercial Buildings

Commercial buildings in Kildare Town include those
constructed for a specific commercial use such as
the Hibernian Bank and the former cinema, and
those which are a combination of residential and
commercial uses, the latter often being incorporated
at a later date. Collectively, these buildings reflect
the development of Kildare as a market town in

the nineteenth century and make an important
contribution to the character of the settlement.

Hibernian Bank

The present day Bank of Ireland [Fig. 25] on Market
Square is the only purpose built bank building in
the town of Kildare. Constructed in 1903 for the
Hibernian Bank, the function of this building is
reflected in its scale and construction, setting it
apart from the modest architecture of neighbouring
buildings.

Almost symmetrical in plan, the building form picks
up the building line of adjoining buildings which is
then projected forward by a three storey two-bay
gable ended breakfront. Four-bays wide and three
storeys in height, the most distinguishing features
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of this building are its brick construction, decorative
terracotta panels and round headed openings at
ground level. Iron railings demarcate a shallow strip
to the front of the building.

This building makes an important contribution to
the streetscape and Market Square. Its scale and
construction distinguishes it from other buildings on
the Square which are generally older in origin and
more modest in design.

Fig. 25_Bank of Ireland, Market Square

Public Houses and Shops

Kildare Town comprises a variety of public houses
and shops which for the greatest part are nineteenth
century in origin and comprise modest two storey
buildings constructed in the Georgian and in some
instances Victorian style.

Graces Bar and Lounge

This building [Fig. 26] originally comprised a three-
bay three storey house constructed in the late
eighteenth century. Having a largely symmetrical
plan, this house is impressive in terms of its

scale although modest in decoration. A flat roofed
projecting porch to the centre gives the building a
more formal appearance. Finishes include roughcast
walls with rendered quoins, slate roof and cast iron
rain water goods.

In the late twentieth century this building was
modified to provide for a commercial use at ground

level as reflected in the modifications to the elevation.

Notwithstanding inappropriate signage and awnings
to the front elevation, this building makes a positive
contribution to the streetscape and Market Square.
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Fig. Zé_Grz;ces Bar and Lounge, Dublin Street

Daniel Boland Public House

This building [Fig. 27] is an example of a purpose
built residential and commercial premises
constructed in the late nineteenth century. The
design of this building responds to the newly formed
corner position of the site which resulted from the
widening of Bride Street.

Comprising a two storey four-bay building fronting
onto Market Square, with two storey two-bay side
elevation and two storey three bay return to rear and
facing Bride Street, this building is characterised by
its elegant proportions and restrained decorative
plaster work including quoins and moulded window
and door surrounds.

The public house use is located on the corner of the
building, benefiting from frontage onto Market Square
and Bride Street. Whilst a replacement timber pub
front installed circa 2000 conflicts with the original
aesthetic of the building, this building retains much of
its character and makes an important contribution to
the streetscape of the town.
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Fig. 27_Daniel Boland’s Public House, Market Square
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Nolan’s Public House

This public house [Fig. 28] is distinct from others in
the town insofar as it is characterised by its brick
construction and Victorian influences. Comprising
a T-shaped plan, this two storey four-bay yellow
brick building with gable ended bay marks a clear
departure from the Georgian style of building which
characterises Market Square.

A particularly attractive feature of this building is the
timber pub front added in the early twentieth century.
Other attractive features include decorative red brick
courses and dressings and cut stone copings and
mouldings. Replacement uPVC windows, artificial
slate roof coverings and fascia board to Seeta
restaurant detract from the original character of

the building, which otherwise makes an attractive
contribution to the streetscape of Market Square.

Fig. 28_Nolan’s Public House, Market Square

Southwells

Southwells [Fig. 29] shop is likely to have originally
comprised 2 no. two-storey houses constructed in
the early nineteenth century. The conversion of the
ground floor of these buildings to shop use in the mid
nineteenth century reflects the commercialisation of
Kildare Town that occurred during the late eighteenth
and nineteenth centuries.

Comprising an elegant Georgian composition and
proportions, an attractive feature of this building is
the timber shopfront which includes classical forms
and detailing. This building would originally have
comprised an integral carriage way providing access
to the rear and typical of Irish market town houses.

This building retains much of its original fabric
including timber sash windows and slate roof and as
such makes a positive contribution to the character of
Market Square.
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Fig. 29_Southwells, Market Square

Shops on Claregate Street

The north side of Claregate Street is largely formed
by a terrace of two storey three / four-bay houses of
similar scale, construction and composition [Flg. 30].
The majority of these houses now comprise ground
floor shop units of recent origin.

These houses were constructed in the late nineteenth
[ early twentieth century and although more modest
in scale and decoration, represent a continuation of
the building proportions and compositions seen on
Market Square. Late twentieth century alterations
and additions to the fabric and elevations of these
buildings detract significantly from their character.
Notwithstanding this, the maintenance of a
continuous building, ridge and eaves line as well as
a general uniformity in the composition of elevations
reflects the historic character of this street.

Fig. 30_ Shop, Claregate Street

Kildare Cinema

This cinema building [Fig. 31] was constructed in the
mid twentieth century and is typical of rural cinema
buildings constructed at the time. Comprising a
double height barn type structure with a modernist
elevation to the front, this building adds to the
diversity of architecture that defines Market Square. A
stepped parapet, concrete canopy and round headed
brick panel are attractive features of this building.
Now the Silken Thomas public house, inappropriate
modifications to the front elevation include the



addition of a timber pub front which is not in keeping
with the muted modern architecture of the original
structure.

Fig. 31The Silken Thomas, Market Square

Residential Buildings

Kildare Town has a diverse stock of residential
buildings which reflect a variety of influences such
as the availability of materials, local craftsmanship
and prevalent architectural styles. This diversity in
urban housing is also reflected in the various forms
of rural housing that exist outside the built up area
of the town. An example of these house types are
described in the following sections.

Georgian Town Houses

There are several fine examples of Georgian town
houses in Kildare, and more specifically to the east of
Market Square. These houses include Beech Grove
House, Lislee Grove House and Virginia Lodge and
are a reminder of the prosperous merchant and
professional classes that lived in the town.

Beech Grove House

Beech Grove House [Fig. 32] is a substantial
two storey three-bay dwelling constructed in the
mid eighteenth century and extended in the late
nineteenth century. Constructed for a Richard
Heatherington, one of the principal tenants of the
Earl of Kildare, this house is a focal point on the
north side of Dublin Street, onto which it gables.
Originally comprising a symmetrical plan, the
classical proportions, finishes and detailing that
are characteristic of Georgian architecture are well
represented here.

A reduction in the curtilage of the house which
resulted from the provision of a new access road
along its eastern boundary in the late twentieth
century coupled with the construction of a
replacement rendered boundary wall with rubble
stone piers detracts from the setting of this house
somewhat.

Fig. 32_Beech Grove House, Dublin Street

Lislee House

Lislee House [Fig. 33] is an attractive two storey
over basement detached house located on the
south side of the Dublin Road. Constructed in the
late eighteenth century, the scale and detailing

of the house suggests it was built for a patron of
considerable status in the locality. Comprising a
symmetrical plan and graceful Georgian proportions,
this three bay house is characterised by an attractive
door case with fanlight and pediment.

The house is set back from the road with a front
garden demarcated by cast iron railings and
rendered walls. Two semi-mature mature trees frame
the house from the street, the character of which is
significantly enhanced by its presence.

Fig. 33_Lislee House, Dﬁbiin treet

Virginia Lodge

This two storey, five-bay house [Flg. 34] located on
the eastern side of Market Square was constructed in
the early nineteenth century. Although the window to
wall ratio of this house is less successful than that of
Beechgrove and Lislee, the classical proportions and
central doorway with fanlight and side lights form an
attractive composition. However, replacement uPVC
windows detract from the character of the house.

Fig. 34_Virginia Lodge, Market Square

Victorian Terraces

In the late nineteenth and early twentieth century
Victorian terraces were constructed at various
locations throughout the town and include those at
Cleamore Terrace, Fairview Cottages and Magee
Terrace. Several notable terraces are also located
on the Curragh Camp. Victorian terraces reflect a
departure from the traditional Georgian architecture
of the town centre and the availability of mass
produced building materials such as brick.

Cleamore Terrace

Cleamore Terrace [Fig. 35] comprises nine two storey
two-bay houses constructed in the late nineteenth
century. The terrace is constructed in yellow brick
with red brick detailing to window and door jambs
and head. Replacement uPVC and timber windows

and doors of various compositions and the addition of

glazed entrance porches with artificial slate hip roofs
significantly detract from the character of this terrace.
A roughcast rendered boundary wall demarcates a
shallow strip to the front of the terrace.

Fig. 35_Cleamore Terrace, Cleamore Road

Fairview Cottages

Fairview cottages [Fig. 36] comprise a terrace of
eleven single storey cottages of varying design

but generally uniform decoration. The construction
of these cottages is likely to be linked with the
establishment of the Great Southern and Western
railway line in the later half of the nineteenth century.
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Employing yellow brick construction with red brick
detailing to window surrounds and chimney stacks,
timber sash windows, slate roofs and cast iron rain
water goods, these design and detailing of these
houses is typical of the Victorian period. An attractive
feature of these cottages is the gable ended entrance
porches and bays which break up the length of the
terrace and enliven the streetscape of Shraud.

A roughcast rendered boundary wall demarcates a
shallow strip to the front of the terrace. Several of
these cottages are in a poor state of repair.

Fig. 36_Fairview Cottages, Shraud

Magee Terrace

Magee Terrace [Fig. 37] comprises 20 no. two storey
three-bay houses constructed in the early twentieth
century, possibly to accommodate men stationed

at Magee Barracks. The terrace faces south west
onto a shared green. The elevation of these houses
comprises a central porch at ground level flanked by
windows on either side. Two windows at first floor
level are aligned directly above those at ground
floor. Two houses to the centre and at each end of
the terrace include a gable ended bay with oculus

at attic level. The front porch comprises an entrance
door on its side elevation with clerestory lighting to
the front elevation. The roof of the terrace is pitched
with gable ends. Slight variations in the ridge line are
provided for by raised red brick barges with cut stone
copings at intermediate locations. The roof to the
entrance porches is pitched and hipped.

These houses were originally constructed with a red
brick finish to the ground floor and rendered walls to
the first floor. Decoration is restrained to the gable
ended bays that punctuate the terrace and comprises
a moulded cornice over the first floor window and
moulded surround to the oculus at attic level. An
attractive feature of this terrace is the red brick
chimney stacks that define its profile.

The fabric of many of these houses has been

inappropriately modified to include replacement
uPVC windows and doors of various compositions,
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render to ground floor walls, replacement uPVC rain
water goods and replacement artificial slate roof
coverings. Notwithstanding these changes, the scale,
form and composition of this terrace remains intact
and is an attractive feature of the area.
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Fig. 37_Magee Terrace

Palacefield Terrace

This terrace [Fig. 38] is typical of the labourers or
artisan dwellings built by private landlords in the late
nineteenth and early twentieth century, most of which
have since been demolished. Comprising seven
three bay single storey cottages located off Station
Road, this terrace is constructed of rubble stone
walls with red brick jambs and head to windows and
entrance door, yellow brick chimney stacks, slate roof
and cast iron rain water goods.

Porches and replacement windows, doors, roof
coverings and rain water goods have been added to
the terrace in recent decades. Some elevations and
chimney stacks have also been rendered resulting in
the loss of subtle detailing such as stepped courses.
Notwithstanding these modifications, this terrace
retains much of its original character and charm and
is reflective of local construction and craftsmanship
at this time.

Fig. 38_PalacefieldTerrace
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Victorian Out of Town Dwellings

The expansion of Kildare Town in the late nineteenth
century and the demand for out of town dwellings
amongst the prosperous and professional classes is
reflected in the number of Victorian houses located
along the approach roads to the town. These houses
include both detached and semi-detached buildings
such as Valetta House, St. Jude’s House, Ruanbeg
House, Gordon and Bennett House and Simla and
Lucknow House.

Valetta House

Valetta House [Fig. 39] is a detached single storey
three-bay house with half-dormer attic constructed
in the late nineteenth century. Set back from the
western side of the Tully Road, this house is
constructed on an irregular plan and with a front
elevation characterised by a gable ended bay with
two storey lean to entrance porch to the side. The
fabric of the building includes rendered walls, red
brick chimney stacks and gable ended slate roof.
Decoration is limited to rendered quoins, timber
barge boards and a pediment over the front door.

The house retains most of its original form and
character despite replacement uPVC windows and
doors and rain water goods. A tarmacadam forecourt
and a timber post and rail fence detract from the
setting of the house which is otherwise an attractive
feature of the Tully Road.

Fig. 39 _Valetta House, Tully Road

St. Jude’s House

St. Jude’s House [Fig. 40] is a detached two-bay
two storey house constructed in the mid to late
nineteenth century. Set back from the southern side
of the Dublin Road, to which it presents a gable,
this house comprises an irregular plan with a front
elevation characterised by a gable ended bay and
canted two storey bay window. An unusual feature
of this house is the modest location of the main
entrance door which originally formed part of a
single storey flat roofed porch to the side of the main
structure. The house is reserved in its decoration
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comprising rendered walls with moulded string
courses to first floor and gable.

Alterations to the house include a single storey flat
roof extension to the side and rear and replacement
uPVC windows. This building is now in use as a
hospital / infirmary and its grounds have largely been
converted to a surface car park. The original entrance
gate to the house is overgrown by mature trees with
access being provided from the rear of the house.
Consequently, the rear of the house is exposed to the
street and detracts from the streetscape.

Fig. 40_St. Jude’s House, Dublin Road

Kildare Parochial House

This house [FIg. 41] was constructed in the mid

to late nineteenth century as a residence for

the Catholic clergy in the locality. Located on a
corner site to the west of the town, this building

is an attractive feature in the streetscape of the

town, terminating views from Academy Street and
Firecastle Lane. Originally comprising a symmetrical
plan, the classical proportions of this building emulate
those of eighteenth century estate houses. It is
possible that a porch existed to the front of the house
as indicated by a render surround to the existing
entrance door. Decoration is restrained to cut stone
corner piers.

Much of the fabric and character of this building has
been lost due to replacement materials and twentieth
century single storey additions. However, the integrity
of the form of the main house is retained, particularly
when viewed from the street, where a rubble stone
wall screens the twentieth century buildings.

This house is complemented by a contemporary
range to the west which gables onto the street.

The fabric of this range has also been altered but
nevertheless retains much of its original character.
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Fig. 41_Kildare Parochial House

Ruanbeg House

Ruanbeg House [Fig. 42] is a substantial two storey,
three bay detached red brick house located on

the north side of the Dublin Road. Comprising an
irregular plan, this house is characterised by its red
brick construction, gable ended bays with decorative
terracotta tiles and two storey canted bay window.
This house retains most of its original fabric including
timber sash windows, slate roof and cast iron rain
water goods.

A complex of outbuildings to the rear of the main
house complement this estate which is almost
undetectable from the Curragh Road but for a pair of
red brick piers with cut stone caps and iron gates.
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Fig. 42_Ruanbeg House, Dublin Road

Gordon House and Bennet House

This pair of two storey three-bay semi-detached
houses [Fig. 43] was constructed in the late
nineteenth / early twentieth century on the north
side of the Curragh Road. Originally symmetrical in
plan and elevation, these houses are characterised
by a projecting gable ended bay with two-storey
canted bay windows and slate hipped roof. The
external finish of these houses comprises smooth
rendered walls with red brick quoins, window heads
and chimney stacks. The original fenestration has
been replaced and alterations made to the entrance
porches.



Attractive outhouses constructed in rubble stone with
gable ended slate roofs are located to the rear of
these properties. A rubble stone wall defines the front
boundary of these houses which make a positive
contribution to the streetscape of the Curragh Road.
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Fig. 43 _Gordon House and Bennett House, Dublin Road

Simla House and Lucknow House

This pair of attractive two storey three-bay houses
[Fig. 44] was constructed in the late nineteenth /
early twentieth century on the north side of the Dublin
Road. These houses comprise an irregular shaped
plan with projecting two storey gable ended bays
and single storey canted bay windows. Primarily
constructed in brick, a defining characteristic of these
houses is the Tudor style gables with decorative
timber barge boards and ornate ridge tiles. Both
these houses retain their original fenestration, slate
roofs and cast iron rain water goods.

Simla house was extended to the side in the late
twentieth century, using building forms and materials
which are generally sympathetic to the original
structure. The front boundary to both these houses

is defined by a smooth rendered plinth wall with cast
iron railings and entrance gates. There is a pair of
attached outhouses to the rear of the properties.
Although surrounded by semi-mature landscaping,
both these houses make a positive contribution to the
character of the Dublin Road.

Fig. 44_Simla House and Lucknow House, Dublin Road

Lodges

There are several lodges to the east of Kildare
Town which were constructed in the early twentieth
century to accommodate military officers stationed
at the barracks. These lodges comprise various
designs characteristic of the English suburban style
and are unusual in their timber frame construction.
The picturesque qualities of these lodges and

their gardens make a positive contribution to the
streetscape and the distinct suburban character of
the area.

The Nook

The Nook [Fig. 45] is an attractive single storey four-
bay detached house fronting onto the Frenchfurze
Road. The house is characterised by its projecting
gable ended bays, canted bay windows, an
attractive entrance porch and white rendered walls
with contrasting black painted features such as barge
boards and window surrounds.

Comprising a timber frame, this house retains most
of its original fabric including timber casement
windows and cast iron rain water goods. The roof of
the house has been recovered with a replacement
artificial slate in diamond pattern courses. A
roughcast boundary wall demarcates the front of the
site.

B

Fig. 45 The Nook, i:renchfurze Road

Mons Lodge

This detached one and a half storey three-bay house
[Fig. 46] located on Leinster Walk is characterised by
its simple form and symmetrical design. The centrally
positioned front porch comprises a lean to slate roof
with timber lattice supports, half dormer window and
Tudor-style timber framed gables which are attractive
features of this house. Features such as rain water
goods, timber frames to the gables and window

sills are highlighted in black and form an attractive
contrast with the white rendered walls of the house.

This house retains most of its original fabric including
timber sash and casement windows and cast iron
rain water goods. Replacement artificial slate in
diamond pattern courses has been applied to the
roof of the building. A roughcast boundary wall
demarcates the front of the site. Semi-mature trees
to the front garden frame the front elevation and are
an attractive feature of the streetscape.

Fig. 46_Mons Lodge, Leinster Walk

Munster Lodge

Munster Lodge [Fig. 47] is a detached single storey
six-bay house located on a corner site defined by
Leinster Walk and the Curragh Road. This house is
characterised by three projecting gable ended bays,
one of which comprises a bay window with hipped
roof. An entrance porch comprising a triangular plan,
timber lattice panels and a flat roof is located on the
northern elevation of the house.

Also comprising timber frame walls with panelled
cladding, this house retains most of its original fabric
including timber sash and casement windows and
cast iron rain water goods. The roof of the house
has been recovered with a replacement artificial
slate in diamond pattern courses. This house is set
a considerable distance back from the road and
surrounded by a large area of lawn.

Fig. 47_Munster Lodge, Leinster Walk
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Ulster Lodge

This detached one and a half storey house [Fig. 48]
comprises a three-bay gable elevation fronting onto
Frenchfurze Road. This house is characterised by
its steeply pitched roof and Tudor-style timber frame
detailing to its gable.

The fabric of this property, primarily comprising
timber framed walls with a render finish, has been
compromised over the late twentieth century to
include replacement uPVC windows. A tarmacadam
forecourt further detracts from the character of the
house. A roughcast boundary wall defines the front
boundary of the property.

Fig. 48_Ulster Lodge, Frenchfurze Road

Kilgowan Lodge

Kilgowan Lodge [Fig. 49] is a two storey over part
raised basement detached house constructed

as a medical officers’ house in 1886. Comprising

a symmetrical plan, this three-bay house is
characterised by a central porch of classical design
and approached by a flight of steps.

This lodge is constructed of broken coursed squared
rubble stone walls with rusticated cut stone quoins
to corners, timber sash windows and timber panelled
entrance doors. The original hipped slate roof was
replaced with artificial slate towards the end of the
twentieth century. The original fascia and eaves to
the roof have also been replaced as have the cast
iron rain water goods. The property was extended to
the north in the mid twentieth century.

This lodge is a significant landmark building gabling
onto the Convent Road. The front boundary of the
house is defined by a rubble stone wall with sections
of iron railing and entrance gates to a tarmacadam
forecourt to the front of the house. This lodge has
remained in residential use up until quiet recently
but is now vacant and rapidly falling into a state of
disrepair.

Prepared by Sheridan Woods Architects + Urban Planners
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Fig. 49_Kilgowan Lodge, Convent Road

Farmhouses

Eighteenth and nineteenth century farmhouses of
small and medium size are an attractive feature of
the rural landscape that surrounds Kildare Town.
There is a large concentration of stud farms and
associated lodges in the area, and in particular on
the periphery of the Curragh.

Hawk Hill Farm Complex

This farm house [Fig. 50] and associated farm
buildings front onto the Monasterevin Road to the
west of Kildare Town. The house is likely to date from
the nineteenth century and comprises a symmetrical
three-bay two storey house with central projecting
entrance porch. A single storey canted bay window
projects from the eastern gable of the house. The
house is characterised by its regular plan, modest
scale and form comprising gabled roof to the main
house and flat roof to the entrance porch.

The fabric of the house comprises rough cast
rendered walls with rendered string course at first
floor level. Replacement artificial slate roof coverings
and uPVC windows and entrance door detract from
this otherwise attractive farmhouse building.

A number of attractive farm buildings form a yard to
the west of the main house and retain much of their
original fabric. A strong feature of this complex is its
close relationship with the road onto which the farm
buildings gable.

Fig. 50_Hawk Hill House, Monasterevin Road
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Curragh View Farm Complex

This nineteenth century house [Fig. 51] and
associated out buildings are located to the east

of Kildare Town and front onto the north western
periphery of the Curragh plains. The main house
comprises a symmetrical two storey three-bay
building with hipped slate roof and central entrance
porch, probably of later origin. The scale of the main
building form and the proportions of the openings
reflect classical influences. Rough cast rendered
walls are decorated by raised rendered quoins to the
corners of the house. Two plain rendered chimney
stacks with decorative courses and yellow chimney
pots are an attractive feature of the house. However,
replacement uPVC windows and a pitched roof to
the entrance porch detract from the character of the
property.

A farm yard to the south of the main house is defined
by ancillary farm buildings formally arranged to
comprise an open end with entrance gate onto the
road. These two storey buildings are characterised
by their long elevations, pitched gable ended roofs
and brick chimney stacks with decorative courses
and yellow chimney pots. Like the main house,
replacement uPVC windows detract from the
character of these buildings which are otherwise a
good example of the farm buildings that surround the

Curragh.
— _—

Fig. 51_Curragh View, The Curragh

Kilcumney House

Kilcumney House [Fig. 52] is located to the north
west of Kildare Town adjacent the South Green
Road. Constructed in the mid nineteenth century,
this two storey house comprises a symmetrical plan
with three bay front elevation centred on an attractive
entrance door with segmental fan light and cut-
stone door case. The scale, form and proportions of
the house are of classical influence. Late twentieth
century additions to the rear of the house comprise
a single storey flat roof extension of unsympathetic
design. With the exception of the entrance door
surround, the fabric of the house is restrained in its
decoration, comprising replacement render walls,
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hipped slate roof, timber sash windows to ground
floor and cast iron rain water goods. Replacement
uPVC windows and louvered timber shutters detract
from the original character of the house.

A single storey gable ended outbuilding is located

to the north of the house. The house has a close
relationship with the South Green Road to the east
whilst also being accessible from a sinuous driveway
from the west. This house is an attractive feature in
the landscape as viewed from several locations.

Fig. 52_Kilcumney House, South Green Road

Cottages

A variety of cottages from the nineteenth and early
twentieth century survive within and around Kildare
Town and are representative of one of the principal
forms of housing at this time. The earliest surviving
examples of these cottages are generally located on
the periphery of the historic town centre and are likely
to have replaced earlier cabins, developing in an
ad-hoc manner along the edge of the road and often
forming part of a terrace or building group.

Cottages constructed in the late nineteenth and
early twentieth century include those constructed in
pairs on half acre plots located on approach roads
to the town. These cottages are likely to have been
constructed on behalf of labourers and are generally
uniform in design and layout.

Cottage, Tully Road

This single storey three-bay cottage [FIg. 53] is
located at the junction of the Tully Road and Convent
Road. This cottage is characterised by its modest
scale and form, rubble stone walls and replacement
timber sash windows and timber sheeted half door.
The external walls of t